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Detail from one of several long lost drawings found 
at St Mary’s church, Battersea – see story page 3
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Research News 13 is once again a general issue, presenting a wide range of work 
undertaken recently by staff in Research Department.

Battersea and Peckham may not enjoy the same heritage profile as iconic London 
landmarks such as the Tower of London or St Paul’s Cathedral, but both have rich  
histories which work by Research Department is helping to bring to light. In Battersea, 
the work of the Survey of London has resulted in the discovery of lost drawings of 
a Georgian parish church, while research undertaken for a Historic Area Assessment 
has elucidated the evidence for Peckham’s past as a genteel residential suburb.  

Industrial archaeology is represented by the Tone Works, near Wellington in 
Somerset, a well-preserved cloth-finishing factory with a long history, including 
the provision of khaki cloth and puttees during World War I. Comprehensive 
investigation to a high standard of the buildings, water management systems and 
machinery of this important complex provides the evidence base needed for 
appropriate conservation management and regeneration of the site. 

The discovery by metal detector of a pair of rare gilded Viking tortoise brooches at
Cumwhitton in north Cumbria, and their declaration to the Portable Antiquities 
Scheme, led to excavation by Oxford Archaeology North of six Viking-period 
graves. Soil conditions meant that the finds had to be lifted in soil blocks and taken 
for excavation to our conservation laboratory at Fort Cumberland. Painstaking 
laboratory investigation has revealed fugitive details of rich and complex grave 
assemblages, including evidence for a sealskin garment.  

Testing and supporting the application of new methods and techniques is an 
important part of Research Department’s work, and in this issue we feature 
two very different initiatives. The first highlights the tremendous potential of the 
new generation of smart ‘phones to enhance the experience of visiting sites and 
monuments by giving access to web-based information and interpretation. The 
second is an international collaboration between English Heritage, Newcastle 
University and FBK Trento, Italy, which seeks to provide professional advice to the 
sector on the development and application of innovative and fast-developing 3D 
survey techniques such as digital photogrammetry and 3D laser scanning.  

Finally, we report on further aspects of research at Apethorpe Hall, work at  
Hadleigh Castle, and the discovery of thee new prehistoric monuments through 
aerial photography.

Christopher Scull
Research Director 
Research and Standards Group
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NEW DISCOVERIES AND INTERPRETATIONS

Rediscovered: long lost 
drawings of a London church

The discovery of architectural drawings in a Battersea 
church leads to an important find for the Survey of London.

RESEARCH THEMES  
AND PROGRAMMES

A 1

St Mary le Park, Battersea, 
proposed east elevation, by 
William White, 1879

Research for the Survey of London consists in 
the main of small, incremental discoveries 
about the history and fabric of the metropolis.  
Pieced together, they present a full and often  
radically new interpretation of an area of 
London, once the volumes of the Survey appear.

Occasionally, as the patient work of assembling 
the picture of a district or building takes 
its course, there come real surprises and 
revelations which help to keep the Survey 
team in spirits. Many of these come from 
unearthing valuable sources which have 
been lost or just never looked at before.  
Even today, quantities of historical records 
and drawings have yet to find their way into 
official archives. An unsung aspect of the 
Survey’s job is to dig out material of this kind 
and, where appropriate, encourage owners 

to deposit it in places where it will be better 
looked after and, one hopes, more accessible.

Naturally enough, major records of most of 
London’s older churches have found their way 
to archives by now. So it was a surprise to 
find that St Mary’s, Battersea – the Georgian 
parish church of one of two south London 
districts which the Survey is tackling at the 
moment – has a cubby hole off the crypt full 
of deeds, drawings and documents of varying 
dates and purposes. From the architectural 
standpoint the most interesting of these is a 
set of drawings, some in a very scrappy and 
fragile condition, for a church by a major 
Victorian architect, William White. This was 
a project of 1879 onwards for a daughter 
church to St Mary’s, confusingly called St 
Mary le Park. Intended to replace the parish 
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church of 1775–7 in a smarter position next to 
Battersea Park, it was to be a grand building 
on a cathedral scale – perhaps the biggest 
church White ever designed. As things turned 
out, only the rump of St Mary le Park was 
ever built. It has now been demolished, 
leaving the older St Mary’s unchallenged.   

But to have White’s original designs is very 
valuable, the more so because no concerted 
collection of his drawings survives.

There was more, however. Older histories 
of the Georgian church refer in passing to 
original drawings, extant in the 1920s. The 

St Mary le Park, Battersea, 
proposed reredos, design by 

William White, 1882

Below left: St Mary’s, Battersea, 
ground plan drawn by  
Joseph Dixon junior, 1777

Below right: St Mary’s, Battersea, 
west elevation drawn by  
Joseph Dixon junior, 1777

©
 S

t 
M

ar
y’s

 C
hu

rc
h,

 B
at

te
rs

ea
©

 S
t 

M
ar

y’s
 C

hu
rc

h,
 B

at
te

rs
ea

©
 E

ng
lis

h 
H

er
ita

ge

4



5

minutes of the original building committee 
were also explicit. When St Mary’s was 
completed in December 1777, Joseph Dixon 
junior, the son of its architect, was paid 
fourteen guineas to make plans, elevations 
and sections which were framed, glazed 
and hung in the church. Where had they 
gone?  They were not in any archives. Nor, 
frustratingly, were they in the cubby hole, 
and no one in the parish remembered 
seeing them. But there were memories of a 
parishioner and amateur historian who had 
looked after the cubby hole, and rumours of 
material having been in his possession at the 
time of his death and possibly then removed 
for restoration and safe keeping. 

In such circumstances polite persistence, 
as any researcher knows, is the only tactic 
to pursue. After convoluted enquiries 
the drawings were located – in far-away 
Lampeter. Their possessor had never 
regarded himself as their owner, and was 
happy to return them to the church. On their 
recovery it was clear that at some stage they 
had been badly water-damaged, perhaps 
during the Second World War, which may 
have been why they had been removed from 
their frames and put away.  

An original set of six record drawings of a 
Georgian parish church is a rare discovery, 
not least in London. The Dixon junior 
drawings (for that is what they must be) 
are economical, but they convey all the 
essential information needed to understand 
the construction and appearance of St 
Mary’s. They have also enabled us to solve 
various puzzles. It’s usually been assumed, 
for instance, that the church has been little 
altered since the 1770s, but the drawings 
confirm that the west front and the galleries 
underwent substantial change in the 1820s 
to get in more seats, as suburban Battersea’s 
population started to rise. They also suggest 
that the main ceiling has been slightly raised.

The damaged state of the discovered drawings 
also raises questions about how they should 
best be illustrated in the Survey volume. The 
decision has been to show at least one of them,  
probably the west elevation, but to redraw 
the plan and the long section. That way, the  
unique information they contain will be clearly 
conveyed to the reader, while comparative 
plans of the building today and in 1777 will 
show how the seating arrangements have 
changed over the centuries.

The drawings are now back with the church.  
But negotiations to deposit these and the 
St Mary le Park drawings in an appropriate 
archive where they can be restored are in 
train, and will soon hopefully be concluded.   
A case like this raises an outstanding 
issue, however, with which historians of 
architecture may be familiar. Historic 
architectural drawings are best cared for in 
specialist archives with experience in dealing 
with them and appropriate facilities. But this 
may mean separating them from the written 
records with which they naturally belong.

Andrew Saint
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St Mary’s, Battersea, drawings 
by Helen Jones and Claudia 
Fantino prepared for the Survey 
of London volume, showing the 
plan as it is today (top), as it 
was in 1777 (below), a section 
of the church based on the 
1777 drawings, and a detail of 
the altar rail
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NEW DISCOVERIES AND INTERPRETATIONS

Peckham’s genteel past

The appearance of modern, commercial, inner city 
Peckham masks an earlier residential suburb.

RESEARCH THEMES  
AND PROGRAMMES

A 2

Buildings:  1800 - 1830

Buildings:   pre-1800
50 0 100 200 m

600 ft0 300100

H A N O V E R
P A R K

P E C
 K H

 A
 M

H
 I L L 

S T R E E T 

H   I   G
   H

H I G H S H O R E      R O A D

H O L L Y      
  G R O V E

E L M        G
 R O V E

B L E N H E I M
      

      
  G R O V E

P   E   C   K   H   A   M

S   T   R   E   E   T

C H O U M E R T         
       R

 O A D

S T E R N H A L L     R O A D

B O U R N E M O U T H       R
 O A D

R     Y     E

L     A
     N

     E

SHARDS
TERRACE

Map showing buildings that 
may contain earlier fabric  

(Crown Copyright. All rights 
reserved. English Heritage 

100019088.2009)

The future of central Peckham, in the 
London Borough of Southwark, is under 
discussion. This sometimes beleaguered 
inner-city area, known for its multicultural 
population and range of ethnic shops, is the 
subject of an Area Action Plan to guide future 
investment and inform planning policy. In 
response, English Heritage commissioned a 
Historic Area Assessment from the southern 
Architectural Investigation Team to analyse 
the character and significance of central 
Peckham’s built environment. The results 
confirm the rich architectural heritage of this 
part of south London.

The assessment highlighted three major 
elements that contribute to the character 
of the area. These were the survival of an 
impressive number of houses from the 
eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, a 

rich legacy of retail architecture reflecting 
Peckham’s importance as a shopping 
destination, and recent urban interventions 
in the form of landscaped areas and 
landmark buildings such as the Stirling 
Prize-winning Peckham Library by Alsop 
and Störmer. The surviving 18th-century 
houses were recorded and analysed for 
Peter Guillery’s book The Small House in 
Eighteenth-Century London. This article 
focuses on the early-19th-century houses, 
evidence relating to which raises questions 
and opportunities for further research. 

For most of its early history Peckham was a 
rural hamlet in the parish of Camberwell. It 
developed around an irregular crossroads of  
the present Peckham High Street (running 
west to east), Peckham Hill Street (to the 
north) and Rye Lane (to the south). While 
some large high-status houses were built 
along the High Street from the sixteenth 
century onwards, it was only in the early 
18th century that Peckham grew into a 
larger settlement. Its proximity to London 
made it a popular holiday resort, with 
attractions such as an annual fair and a 
theatre. Some of the earliest surviving houses 
date from this time and illustrate the area’s 
increasingly semi-urban character. Much less 
is known about the buildings dating from 
the early nineteenth century, which formed 
the first significant phase of development 
on Peckham Hill Street and Rye Lane. 
The building of new bridges (particularly 
of Vauxhall Bridge in 1816) and roads, 
increases in population and improvements 
in transport provision contributed to the 
development of Peckham as a suburb. 

After the demolition of a 1672 mansion on 
the site of the medieval Peckham Manor 
at the end of the 18th century, the Shard 
family sold the land for development, which 
included the cutting of the Peckham branch 
of the Grand Surrey Canal (opened 1826, 
closed 1971). On the remaining land, two 
groups of buildings were erected. At the 
corner of the High Street and Hill Street, a 

Facing page, top: Detail of a 
map by Christopher and John 

Greenwood, published in 1830

Facing page, bottom:  
Shard’s Terrace, 91–107 

Peckham High Street/126–130 
Peckham Hill Street, in 2009
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terrace of twelve three-storey brick houses, 
called Shard’s Terrace, was built from 1833. 
In order to accommodate a corner of nearly 
90 degrees, the houses at the centre are 
wedge-shaped in plan, compensated by 
a façade one bay wider than the two-bay 
houses at either end of the terrace. A road 
widening of 1880–82 subsumed their small 
front gardens and the houses were soon 
adapted for commercial use.

In contrast, the other development on Shard 
land is more varied in scale, setting and 
decoration. Located further along the west 
side of Hill Street, today this comprises a 
mixed group of seven semi-detached pairs 
and one detached house, dating from the 
1820s. Originally, the group was larger 
and more diverse, comprising six pairs, 
two terraces of four houses each, and four 
houses, some of which were demolished 
in the twentieth century. The surviving 
buildings are brick houses of differing 
elevations, with some stucco details, front 
gardens and large rear gardens stretching 
towards the site of the canal. Originally, 
these houses looked eastwards towards Bell’s 
Market Garden until terraces of houses were 
built here around 1861.
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98–100 and 102–104  
Peckham Hill Street in 2009

12–16 Rye Lane in 2009

D
er

ek
 K

en
da

ll, 
©

 E
ng

lis
h 

H
er

ita
ge

D
er

ek
 K

en
da

ll, 
©

 E
ng

lis
h 

H
er

ita
ge



9

The development of Rye Lane was also 
uneven. At the beginning of the 19th 
century, Rye Lane had clusters of houses at 
its northern and southern ends but most of 
the land was still used as market gardens, 
meadows and pasture. By 1840, the west 
side of the street had been developed as a 
suburban residential area, with terraces, 
semi-detached houses with front and rear 
gardens, and leafy side streets. The land on 
the east side was still in use as a brickfield 
and for agricultural purposes – in some 
cases, such as the Hanover Nursery, this use 
continued beyond the arrival of the railway 
in the 1860s. 

This differential development may be 
explained by the pattern of landownership. 
The main landowner and developer on the 
west side of Rye Lane was George Choumert 
(1746–1831), originally from Lorraine, who 
married into the wealthy Fendall family of 
Bermondsey and was naturalised in 1796. 
At the time of the Tithe Survey of 1837–38, 
the estates belonging to ‘the late George 
Choumert’ comprised over 18 acres on the 
west side of Rye Lane, and originally would 
have been even larger. In 1815, he built 
South Street Terrace, and the following year 
the first houses in George Street (now Holly 
Grove), the first side street of Rye Lane to be 
laid out.

The major land owners on the east side of 
Rye Lane, the de Crespigny family and the 
Bowyer-Smijth family, were neither as active 
nor as successful as Choumert. 
By 1860, the only major developments on de 
Crespigny land were one side street, Hanover 
Park, with three pairs of semi-detached 
houses (built between 1833 and 1841), and 
Coborn Terrace on Rye Lane (of c. 1847). 
The rate of development was even slower 
further south on land owned by the Bowyer-
Smijths and the mismanagement of their 
other estates led to their mortgaging and 
eventual sale in about 1860.

Early-nineteenth-century semi-detached 
houses on the west side of Rye Lane 
form a distinctive component in today’s 
streetscape, such as two pairs from the 
1820s at the north end of the street. Their 
façades are visually unified so as to appear 
to be two large suburban villas with an air 
of social exclusiveness: 12–16 Rye Lane 
features a shared pediment, comparable to 
contemporary houses in Blackheath, while 

26–28 is a pair of houses with a central 
recessed bay linking the two halves. 

Generous scale and semi-detachment, 
both important characteristics of the early-
nineteenth-century development of London’s 
suburbs, can also be found further south  
on Rye Lane in a group of three pairs of  
tall houses dating from the 1810s or 20s, 
which were part of the Choumert Estate 
(146–50, 152–54, 156–62). While these  
brick houses are plain and unornamented, 
they are notable for their height and 
generous spacing with their originally large 
front and rear gardens. Curiously, the three 
pairs are not aligned to each other and stand 
in a staggered line at a slight angle to the 
street line. 

While today central Peckham has a 
predominantly commercial character, the 
surviving early houses offer a glimpse of an 
earlier incarnation as a genteel residential 
suburb. By the mid-19th century the process 
of adaptation, conversion and extension was 
underway, resulting in their present usage as 
ground-floor shops with empty or underused 
upper floors. 

Johanna Roethe

26–28 Rye Lane in 2009
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NEW DISCOVERIES AND INTERPRETATIONS

Tone Works: a finishing 
works with a future?

Research on an historic textile works provides a basis for 
heritage-led regeneration.

RESEARCH THEMES  
AND PROGRAMMES

D 1

Tone Works is the extensive cloth-finishing 
works of Fox Brothers and Co., one of 
the most successful and long-lasting firms 
in the South-West textile industry. It was 
established in the late 18th century on the 
site of an earlier fulling mill on the River 
Tone, about a mile north-west of Wellington, 
Somerset. For two centuries the works 
continued to dye and finish the woollen and 
worsted cloths woven at the company’s mills 
using traditional machinery. When it finally 
closed in the late 1990s, a consequence of its 

long working life was the exceptionally good 
preservation of buildings and mechanical 
features. These included a complete set of 
traditional dyeing and finishing machinery, 
an extensive process-water system, intact 
late 19th-century line shafting and most of 
the water-, steam- and early-electric power 
systems. The complex of buildings and 
ponds is now derelict and in an increasingly 
perilous condition, but a detailed 
investigation by Swindon-based Architectural 
Investigation staff, requested by the South-

Tone Works was still in use in 
October 1995. The need for 
copious amounts of treated 
water for cloth finishing 
resulted in good preservation 
of the extensive system of 
ponds, watercourses and sluices
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A 2E 1

Traditional scouring and milling 
machinery, still in use and 
powered by 19th-century line 
shafting in October 1995
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West Regional Office, has recognised that 
they comprise one of the best-preserved 
historic textile sites in the country.

The origins of Fox Brothers and Co. can 
be traced back to a 17th century clothier 
business, in which most of the stages of cloth 
production were sent out to cottage-based 
workers. From the 1790s the company was 
transformed by Thomas Fox, who laid the 
foundations of its later success by adopting 
the principles of the new factory system. 
Water-powered mills were built at Wellington 
and at Uffculme in Devon, and Tone Works 
developed for dyeing and finishing. Initially 
the mills were mainly used for powered 
yarn spinning, but they were later extended 
into integrated cloth factories undertaking 
the full range of processes. The firm’s 
headquarters was at Tonedale Mills, not far 
from Tone Works, which grew into the largest 
mill complex in the South West, one of the 
largest in the country. Later in the 19th 
century other mills were built or taken over 
across the region; when the firm reached its 
maximum size during the First World War 
it also managed an additional 30 mills in 
Yorkshire.

Under the management of Thomas Fox and 
his descendents, improvements to the dyeing 
and finishing processes at Tone Works were 
central to the success of the business and 
its long-term survival. Finishing involved 
a sequence of scouring, milling, raising 
and cutting processes to achieve cloth of 
the desired weight and feel. By adjusting 
each stage a wide variety of finishes could 
be produced. The firm also made technical 
improvements to dyeing, especially in the use 
of indigo dyes and the development of the 

Khaki dyes used for military uniforms. At the 
beginning of the 20th century Fox’s were the 
sole licensed manufacturer of Khaki dyed 
cloth. One of their most successful products 
was the Fox’s Patented Improved Puttee, which 
was formerly used in military uniforms 
and popular for country wear. Puttees were 
a type of spiral cloth dressing that was 
wrapped around the lower leg. The scale 
of the business was indicated by its output 
during the First World War, which included 
twelve million pairs of puttees and four and a 
half-million yards of Khaki serge.

Tone Works now comprises several groups 
of mostly single-storeyed brick and stone 
buildings, some in poor condition, with 
associated landscape features including 
ponds, watercourses and sluices. The latter 
were built to supply water- and steam-power, 
and to treat large quantities of river water for 

In September 2007 the 
buildings of Tone Works were 
partially derelict and in poor 
condition; landscape features 
were increasingly overgrown 
and becoming eroded
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Cross-section of the Finishing 
Works. The water-powered line 
shaft above the wheel chamber 
is geared to the steam-powered 
shaft attached to the left wall. 
Surveyed April 2007
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use in finishing and dyeing. Investigation of 
the successive phases of building provided 
evidence of how the various processes had 
been developed at the site, and also of the 
occasional rebuilding that resulted from 
winter floods. In the late 19th century the 
buildings were gradually reorganised into 
functional groups which enabled the efficient 
segregation of processes, including a Dye 
Works, Finishing Works, dry houses, steam 
plant and a separate Grease Works for the 
treatment of effluent. 

Investigation was helped by the survival 
of the extensive Fox Brothers’ company 
archives, still in private ownership, which 
include a rare collection of cloth samples and 
details of production methods dating back to 
the 18th century. Research has indicated that 
the surviving Tone Works machinery is of the 
same type and in the same locations as that 
installed when the Finishing Works was built 
in the late 19th century, although many of 

the machines have been altered or replaced 
in the course of regular maintenance. This is 
to be expected, since the machines remained 
in heavy use for a long period and many 
are of timber construction. In contrast, 
the power system has retained a much 
higher proportion of its original features. 
Before mains electricity was available, 
power systems were one of the main factors 
influencing the design of textile factories. 
At Tone Works, the water-power system was 
cleverly adapted in the late 19th century 
to be combined with steam power and DC 
electric power, which was generated on-site. 
The extensive system of line shafting used 
clutches and bevel-gearing to combine the 
different power sources; this power system 
was adapted rather than replaced during the 
20th century and is now remarkably  
well-preserved. 

Fieldwork and research aimed to examine all 
of the significant historic features, although 
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wheel, reconstructed from 
fragments retrieved from the 
wheel chamber, April 2007. 
Only the wheel shaft and one 
of the shrouds remained in situ

some buildings were not included due to 
asbestos contamination. Fortunately the 
area containing most of the power system 
and machinery, the Finishing Works, was 
still accessible, and the whole site had been 
photographed by RCHME in the 1990s. The 
need to record mechanical features as well 
as buildings required measured survey at a 
wide range of scales using 2D and 3D CAD 
and EDM. Many parts of the power system 
and their relationship to the buildings could 
only be illustrated by combining 2D and 3D 
graphics. The completed two-volume report 
was given the Main Fieldwork Award of the 
Association for Industrial Archaeology in 2008.

The historical significance of Tone Works has 
been firmly established, but the future of the 
site is still far from secure. The regeneration 
of historic industrial sites often begins with 
investigation and report writing, but these 
are just the first stages in a long process 
of negotiation and discussion to identify 

viable new uses. A wide range of interested 
organisations and individuals outside EH 
now recognise the importance of Tone Works, 
including The Prince’s Regeneration Trust, 
SWRDA, Taunton Deane BC and local 
developers. The Prince’s Regeneration Trust 
hosted a seminar in Wellington to discuss 
the future of the site and in 2007 created the 
Tone Works Partnership to further promote 
the benefits of regeneration. The difficulties 
of balancing development with conservation 
of the range of historic features at Tone are 
formidable, but detailed investigation has 
provided the basis of understanding which 
is required to underpin efforts to secure a 
positive outcome for the site. Successful 
conservation programmes elsewhere have 
already demonstrated that obtaining firm 
agreement on the heritage value is the vital 
first step in the process of heritage-led 
regeneration of industrial sites.

Mike Williams
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NEW DISCOVERIES AND INTERPRETATIONS

Hollow swords and needles 
in a soil block

Unravelling the evidence preserved on the artefacts from 
the Viking cemetery at Cumwhitton, Cumbria.

RESEARCH THEMES  
AND PROGRAMMES

A 3

Viking cemeteries are scarce in England, 
and the example at Cumwhitton in north 
Cumbria was located by metal detectorists 
who unearthed two gilded tortoise brooches 
in a ploughed field, and handed them into the  
Portable Antiquities Scheme. As a result of 
these unexpected finds Oxford Archaeology 
North were commissioned to excavate the 
find site and they located six graves which 
are assumed, by the finds associated with 
them, to be of four male and two female 
burials. The acidic soil conditions mean that 
no trace of the skeletons remained, not even 
a soil silhouette, and the metal grave goods 
are heavily corroded and fragmented. It was 
recognised from the outset that conservation 
input would be required to record and 
understand these delicate remains. The first 
stage was to remove the groups of metalwork 
from the site in blocks of soil frozen with 
dry ice, and this kept all the fragments in 
position so that they could be transferred 
to the Fort Cumberland laboratories for 
excavation and analysis. 

The first stage of this investigation was to 
x-ray all the soil blocks to see what they 
contained as well as the individual pieces of  
ironwork from the plough soil to isolate the  
Viking material from the modern. The biggest 

surprise was the condition of the metalwork 
with many of the iron objects disfigured with 
large corrosion blisters, such as the swords, 
and other pieces just remain as a hollow shell 
held together by the iron corrosion as in the  
case of a large length of chain. Another 
extreme form of preservation was a tinned 
and decorated spur where the underlying 
iron had in some areas dissolved away leaving 
just the thick tin plating, which remained as a 
shiny white metal. The only evidence for the 
shape of some of these iron objects, and any 
inlaid metal decoration, can be found in the 
x-ray images. In the case of very small items, 
such as a group of needles, it was possible to 
recognise them on the x-radiograph of the 
box contents but it proved difficult to locate 
the objects themselves as all that remained 
were paper thin fragments of iron corrosion. 

The copper alloy objects are as fragile as 
eggshell, because much of the copper has 
been leached away, leaving a powdery tin 
oxide core with a shiny green crust which 
can shatter at the slightest pressure.  The 
decorated rim mount from a drinking horn 
illustrates this condition clearly, and the x-ray 
images were needed to obtain the diameter 
of the original horn it was attached to as the 
piece itself is too fragile to handle. 

Right: Cross section of sword 
blade, showing that no metal 

remains and the centre is hollow

Facing page, top left: Sword 
pommel with fine interlace 

decoration made from 
contrasting coloured metal  

wire inlaid into the iron

Facing page, top right: Drinking 
horn mount originally made 

from bronze metal, but is now 
heavily de-cuprified leaving just 
a skin of copper corrosion on 

top of a tin oxide core
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Although no organic artefacts have survived 
intact in these burial conditions, traces do 
remain attached to the metalwork where 
they have been preserved by the toxic copper 
salts and can be almost unchanged except 
for the green colouration, but the protection 
usually only extends to the outline of the 
object.  In one case the organic remains were 
found to represent a sealskin garment that 
was fastened by a highly decorated copper 
alloy buckle. In other examples the organic 
material has been impregnated with iron 

corrosion, leaving it hard and brittle as in 
the case of wood preserved in spearhead 
sockets and the sword scabbards made up 
of layers of wood, leather and textile. It has 
been possible to identify the wood to species 
level, finding that all the spearshafts had 
been made from ash and all the scabbards 
had thin pieces of willow or poplar inserted 
between the layers of textile and leather. 
Personal items such as antler combs were 
also placed in the graves, but were initially 
overlooked as only the iron nails remained 

Below left: Buckle mounted on 
seal skin

Below right: Textile interfacing or 
lining of the garment preserved 
between two copper plates
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Top left: Electron micrograph of 
the wood structure where the 

microscopic detail is retained  
in the iron corrosion

Bottom left: Needles – 
x-ray image

Right: Composite antler comb 
preserved by the iron shears

with traces of the organic material preserved 
on them. Fortunately two of the combs had 
been placed on top of iron shears which had 
preserved more of the antler, so that it was 
possible to record the size and shape of the 
combs including the decorated end plates on 
one of them.

The largest soil block contained the iron 
bindings and other attachments of a wooden 
casket and its contents. This turned out to 
contain various tools for textile working, 

or as we would know it a large needlework 
box.  Wood preserved on the many iron 
brackets, hinges, strapping and lockplate 
have enabled us to reconstruct its original 
form and identify that it was made from 
maple, probably the field maple variety 
native to the British Isles rather than Norway 
maple which was common in Scandinavia. 
Although the box is identical in construction 
with similar iron-bound chests found in 
Scandinavian cemeteries, the choice of wood 
could indicate that this one was made locally, 
rather than brought from abroad.

Even after an extensive programme of 
conservation this exciting assemblage of 
material still looks like a tangled mass 
of corroded metalwork and it is easy to 
underestimate the wealth of information it 
still holds – a clear case where beauty lies 
in the eye of the beholder! The objects have 
now been returned to the Lancaster offices 
of Oxford Archaeology for further study 
and illustration for the site publication, and 
then they will be deposited at Tullie House 
Museum, Carlisle where some of the items 
are intended to go on display. 

Jacqui Watson

Reconstruction of the 
needlework box
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DEVELOPING METHODOLOGIES

The past in your pocket:  
mobile media and 
interactive interpretation

Exploring the potential of combining reconstruction 
illustration with mobile interactive devices in visual 
interpretation for remote sites.

RESEARCH THEMES  
AND PROGRAMMES

E 1

The Master’s programme in Archaeological 
Illustration at Swindon College (now validated 
by Oxford Brookes University) which I 
undertook part-time while working at the 
NMR, was developed in collaboration with 
the Association of Archaeological Illustrators 
and Surveyors, and works in co-operation 
with English Heritage and archaeological 

units. The course offers students the 
opportunity to explore methods of visual 
representation in archaeology. This includes, 
but is not limited to, finds recording and the 
creation of didactic information graphics, 
through to reconstruction illustration, 
utilising both traditional hand techniques 
and digital illustration methods.
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One of the six reconstruction 
illustrations created for this 
project; an illustration of 
Alasdair Whittle’s theory about 
the form of the mortuary 
structure within the early oval 
barrow at Wayland’s Smithy. 
Pencil & watercolour on 
watercolour paper
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Screenshot from Wayland’s 
Smithy 1 Interactive, showing 
textual & diagrammatic 
information displayed when 
user hovers curser over ‘hot 
spots’ in the reconstruction 
image (Atkinson’s theory)

During my study, issues surrounding the 
depiction of ambiguity, particularly regarding 
the creation of reconstruction illustrations, 
became a particular theme. The focus of my 
research project was to examine whether 
the use of portable, digital devices such 
as mobile phones to supply interactive 
interpretation material could provide an 
enhanced experience for the visitor to an 
archaeological site. I set out to design an 
interactive framework that provided the 
visitor with both the archaeological evidence 
and the various interpretations derived from 
it. I wanted to investigate whether presenting 
the evidence in this way could enhance the 
visitors’ understanding of the archaeological 
evidence while visiting the site.

I selected the site of Wayland’s Smithy, a 
Neolithic long barrow on the Ridgeway in 
Oxfordshire, as a case study. The site was 
suitable for three reasons: it is a remote 
monument with a limited amount of on-site 
information, it had structures that preceded 
the presently visible trapezoidal mound, 
and finally because there are conflicting 
published interpretations of the ambiguous 
excavated evidence for the early structures. 
During the early stages of the project, I 

worked closely with Susan Westlake, from 
English Heritage’s Properties Research team, 
who provided key information about the 
history of the site and its excavations, and the 
subsequent published interpretations from 
the evidence.

I created a series of illustrations of three 
published interpretations of the first oval 
barrow and mortuary structure revealed 
by excavations in the 1960s. These were 
the theories of  R.J.C. Atkinson’s (1965), 
Ian Kinnes (1975), and Alasdair Whittle 
(1991). When seen together the illustrations 
highlight the conflicting interpretations. 
I then designed an interactive framework 
through which the viewer could flick 
between these illustrations, and could access 
supporting data and images. For instance, if 
a viewer wanted to see the evidence on which 
Atkinson based his interpretation, they could 
view an original section drawing or plan by 
hovering the cursor over the relevant area of 
the illustration. 

The next challenge was how to get this 
material to visitors at the site. I investigated 
the capabilities of mobile devices, specifically 
smartphones, and found that the new 
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Visualisation of WS1 Interactive 
being used on a smartphone as 
part of on-site interpretation at 
Wayland’s Smithy, Oxfordshire

generations of these devices now offer the 
user internet access to web-hosted media 
with audio-visual content on a large, clear 
touch-screen, as well as utilising GPS 
technology, internal compasses, and augmented 
reality software. This means that these devices 
are not only capable of being aware of the 
user’s location, they also know which direction 
they are facing; consequently they know what 
the user is looking at. By combining clear 
visual display of interpretation material with 
augmented reality software, the device enables 
the user to open a window onto the past, and 
to experience visual interpretation directly 
relevant to the aspect of the site that they see 
before them.

After successful trials on several 
smartphones, I concluded that this 
interactive content can be accessed and 
used by a visitor to a remote archaeological 
site such as Wayland’s Smithy, and this new 
approach to the interpretation available at 
a remote archaeological site is, I believe, 
a fantastic way of augmenting the visitor’s 
experience. At the beginning of the project, 
delivering this kind of interactive visual 
interpretation on a device carried in 
most visitors’ pockets seemed like a real 

challenge; difficult to achieve but with hugely 
exciting potential for the presentation of 
archaeological interpretations at a site. I 
have found that what was thought to be 
impossible (or at least too expensive and 
complicated) last year has now become 
possible, demystified and affordable.

Jennie Anderson
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Links

Jennie Anderson, Archaeological Illustration:  
www.jennieanderson.co.uk

Swindon College:  
www.swindon-college.ac.uk
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DEVELOPING METHODOLOGIES

Heritage3D: ongoing 
professional guidance on 
3D recording and survey in 
cultural heritage

A communication project that provides a source of 
reference on 3D recording techniques for cultural heritage 
conservation and documentation activities.

RESEARCH THEMES  
AND PROGRAMMES

G 1

Survey techniques such as digital 
photogrammetry and 3D laser scanning 
now allow for the accurate and rapid 
collection of 3D measurements at a variety 
of scales. Coupled with the ubiquitous 
increase in computing power and rising user 

expectations, archaeology and architecture 
can now call upon these techniques to 
provide data essential to developing the 
level of understanding necessary for making 
key decisions about the management of an 
artefact, monument or landscape. As a result 
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of the wide application of 3D measurements 
and the ongoing development of new 
techniques, there is a need for impartial 
professional advice to help ensure best value 
for those commissioning work, and to direct 
priorities for the future development of  
3D survey.

In October 2006 the School of Civil 
Engineering and Geosciences at Newcastle 
University completed a two year HEEP 
supported project entitled “Developing 
professional guidance – laser scanning 
in archaeology and architecture”. The 
project, which adopted the working name 
“Heritage3D”, sought to provide guidance 
to archaeologists, local planning authorities, 
instrument manufacturers and software 
developers on the use of 3D laser scanning 
in the conservation of cultural heritage. The 
primary aims of this project were to develop 
and support best practice in laser scanning 
for archaeology and architecture, and 
disseminate this best practice to users, along 
with the education of likely beneficiaries. 

A guidance note and revised specification 
arising from Heritage3D were delivered to 
English Heritage at the end of 2006. These 
documents represented the culmination of 
a number of activities undertaken, however 
perhaps the most successful element of 
the project was the establishment and 
maintenance of the project website (http://
www.heritage3d.org) which acted as 
the project’s primary dissemination and 
information channel. This website became 
one of the key project deliverables, helping 
the project to successfully provide guidance 
on the use of laser scanning to cultural 
heritage professionals within English 
Heritage, the UK and around the globe.

Despite the significant successes and impact 
enjoyed by the previous Heritage3D project 
and other ongoing activities aimed at 
widening awareness, there remains a need 
for continued, specialist and impartial advice 
and information on the most appropriate 
three-dimensional measurement techniques 
to be used in the tasks typically encountered 
in the conservation and recording of 
cultural heritage. This is increasingly the 
case as low cost, commercial grade digital 
cameras are now capable of being used 
for relatively high accuracy recording and 
software companies continue to develop 
what have been traditionally-specialised 
three-dimensional measurement techniques, 
such as photogrammetry, into mass market, 
consumer applications. Google Inc., 
for example, now offer a free version of 
“Sketch-Up”, software which allows home 
users to build 3D models of buildings and 
structures from digital images. Whilst such 
software packages are not presented as a 
high accuracy measurement or recording 
tools, it is inevitable that the global reach 
of these companies will stimulate users in 
many different disciplines, including those 
in cultural heritage conservation, into asking 
how such tools might be applied to particular 
tasks. With the correct professional guidance 
and understanding such tools could play 
very useful roles in future conservation 
activities. With these new, mass market, 
tools becoming available there is clearly a 
need to maintain an impartial source of 
information for professional users. This is 
also true with respect to specialist tools, such 
as laser scanning or photogrammetry. With 
developers continuingly seeking to provide 
faster, smaller, and cheaper hardware/
software systems and with the on-going 

Cultural heritage can now 
call upon three-dimensional 
techniques such as laser 
scanning to inform conservation 
at a variety of scales, as seen 
here in an airborne laser scan 
of Birdoswald Roman Fort (a) 
and a terrestrial laser scan of 
the 2009 excavation at the 
same site (b)
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The revamped Heritage3d 
website (right) is now  

driven by a bespoke  
content management  

system (far right)

development of specialised techniques, 
such as waveform laser scanning, keeping 
professional users informed is vital to 
achieving best value.

The aim of the next phase of the Heritage3D 
project is therefore to provide, to English 
Heritage employees and other professionals 
engaged in cultural heritage, general 
news and independent information about 
all forms of 3D survey and recording, 
in-depth guidance and discussion on 
specific applications and techniques, and 
to provide access to a network of relevant 
organisations and individuals that could 
provide information and advice. This differs 
substantially from the original Heritage3D 
project in that it will cover all documentation 
techniques, not just 3D laser scanning. To 
mark the new beginning of the project, the 
website has been re-launched and is now 
driven by a bespoke content management 
system. The website can therefore now 
be populated by content from any project 
associate who is granted appropriate write 
access, with contributions constantly 
monitored by the project’s executive 
committee. Moreover, it is anticipated that 
this more open access approach to web 
design should provide significant longevity 

for the website following the formal 
completion of the Heritage3D project in 
2011. Regular updates to the website will 
provide ongoing interest, and in order to 
stimulate discussion and raise awareness 
on specific issues, themed updates to the 
site will be made twice a year. An editorial 
board has been appointed to oversee and 
advise on the work of the project, as well as 
provide diverse and interesting content to 
the website. To ensure that the project is not 
limited to disseminating domestic activity, 
and to ensure input is received on the 
very latest international developments, the 
project is being undertaken in a three-way 
collaboration between English Heritage (Paul 
Bryan), Newcastle University (Jon Mills and 
Simon Abele) and FBK Trento, Italy (Fabio 
Remondino). Anyone wishing to participate 
as a project associate is welcome to do so and 
should contact Jon Mills at j.p.mills@ncl.ac.uk.

Jon Mills and Simon Abele 
(Newcastle University), Fabio 
Remondino (FBK Trento, Italy) and 
Paul Bryan (English Heritage)
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APETHORPE HALL

A lost fireplace  
at Apethorpe Hall

The newly-uncovered evidence of a lost chimneypiece 
raises questions about the early history of the site.
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RESEARCH THEMES  
AND PROGRAMMES

A 2

One of a small number of areas recently 
opened up at Apethorpe is a section of wall 
located on the first floor of the west range 
of the outer, or kitchen, court: an area once 
home, according to 19th-century sources, to 
a substantially-sized and finely-ornamented 
stone fireplace. Characterised by clustered 
columns supporting foliate corbels, the 
feature is known to have been relocated to 
the core of the house before being discarded 
during the early 20th century, and the 
opening-up consequently did not reveal a 
survival of the masonry proper. However, 
visible within the stonework of the wall 
surface was found to be a zig-zag break 
marking the former position, and confirming 
the monumental scale, of the projecting 
ashlar hood. This comprises the only known 
physical trace of the vanished chimneypiece.

The significance of the fireplace lies in its 
identification as an authentic work of the 
13th century. This attribution was first put  
into writing by F. T. Dollman and J. R. Jobbins. 
Surveying the chimneypiece c.1859 for the 
initial volume of their Analysis of Ancient 
Domestic Architecture in Great Britain, the pair 
encountered it prior to the extensive changes 
wrought upon the feature during the later 
19th century, and their brief description 
and accompanying plate are therefore of 
particular use. Indeed, comparison between 
the latter engraving and further examples 
of the hooded chimneypiece type confirms 
the existence of a close formal and stylistic 
affinity with those of the mid- to late 13th 
century. In addition to overall composition, 
the notably high level of carved detail to 
the Apethorpe chimneypiece, for example, 
with foliate mouldings to both the capitals 
and concave corbels, finds a close ally in 
the hooded Checker fireplace of c.1260 at 
Abingdon Abbey, Berkshire.  

This 13th-century attribution was to be 
echoed in the sale particulars drawn up for 

the house somewhere on site towards the 
close of the 19th century. Composed after, 
but within memory of, its restoration, these 
deemed the ‘ancient stone fireplace’ - and, 
moreover, the west range within which it had 
been situated – as being dateable to the reign 
of Henry III (d.1272).  That the otherwise 
undocumented fireplace might be original to 
Apethorpe prompts the consideration of a  
series of interesting possibilities. Archaeological 
evidence indicates that the present site could 
have been occupied from the time of the 
12th century, but no remains of an early 
structure have been identified; accrediting 
the 13th-century site with the vast, decorated 
chimneypiece would suggest it to have 
comprised a manorial complex of some 
importance. In this context, the owners and 
occupants of Apethorpe during the period 
are of particular note. The first of these, one 
Randolph Brito, or Ralph Britton, was tenant 
to the crown-held manor for the period 
1231-c.1281-2. Perhaps more significantly, 

Engraving of the fireplace  
by F. T. Dollman and  
J. R. Jobbins 1859
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Photograph of the fireplace 
c.1888 showing it relocated in 
the New Dining Room

Apethorpe was subsequently held in dower  
for ten years by Queen Eleanor of Provence,  
wife of Henry III and mother to Edward I,  
and it is not impossible that the chimneypiece 
is owed to this period of royal association.

Regarding the fireplace as a feature original 
to the manor would, furthermore, go a 
little way towards explaining its somewhat 
incongruous presence in the west range of 
the second court, a section of the building 
thought to have functioned as a service range 
from the time of its erection during the 
late-1470s; its insertion into the range could 
thus be understood primarily in the light of 
preservation rather than display. Whether 
or not the chimneypiece existed there by 
the 17th century is inconclusive. Instead, 
the earliest evidence of any certainty derives 
from a floor plan of 1858. Illustrating the 
fireplace as being sliced into two parts by a 
dividing wall, with a pair of smaller grates 
inserted beneath the partitioned hood, 
this suggests that by at least the mid-19th 
century the chimneypiece had been within 
the west range for some time.

The hooded feature must still have been 
in this partitioned state when surveyed by 
Dollman and Jobbins during the following 
year.  However, its publication comprises  
one of a number of indications that interest 

in the fireplace was beginning to be renewed: 
between c.1858-9 a further hooded 
chimneypiece, clearly inspired by that within 
the west range, was designed for the new 
Front Hall, a now-altered space created by 
the architect Edward Browning of Stamford 
within the ground floor of the east range.  
This was followed c.1876 by the elevation of 
the ‘ancient stone fireplace’ to a position of 
greater prominence: its location within the 
service range was exchanged for the New 
Dining Room, situated in the south-east 
corner of the Arkade. It is recorded within 
the room in a photograph taken c.1888.

What the photograph also reveals, however, 
are the extensive changes that were carried  
out to the chimneypiece during this 
relocation. The most significant of these 
were probably initiated by damage caused 
during the insertion, or indeed removal, of 
the dividing wall: the fireplace appears to 
have been reduced in width by at least two 
feet, and both the hood and supporting 
lintel either altered or rebuilt.  The carving 
of the brackets and capitals may also have 
been renewed, and it was probably as a 
result of such reworking that Mr. Brassey, 
acquiring the house in 1904, was sufficiently 
doubtful of its authenticity as to have the 
fireplace removed. The New Dining Room, 
or the Smoking Room, as it had by then 
become, was instead provided with the 
present stone fireplace of c.1740. Similar in 
width to the final dimensions of the hooded 
chimneypiece, but substantially lower in 
height and more modest in projection, this 
too appears to have been relocated from 
elsewhere at Apethorpe. Of the discarded 
feature, on the other hand, no further record 
has been found, and it seems likely that the 
much-altered chimneypiece - as elusive in its 
removal as in the circumstances surrounding 
its introduction to the house - was probably 
destroyed.

Hannah Waugh
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APETHORPE HALL

The heraldic decoration of 
Apethorpe Hall

At all times during the history of Apethorpe Hall its 
owners stamped their identity on the building through the 
use of their families’ heraldry, stressing their lineage or 
connections through decorative schemes.

RESEARCH THEMES  
AND PROGRAMMES

A 2

Apethorpe Hall features a great deal of 
heraldic decoration, in stone, glass and 
plaster. The interpretation of this decoration 
tells us much about the self confidence of the 
owners of the Hall, particularly that of the 
Mildmay and Fane families. At the request 
of Kathryn Morrison, a small sub-project 
was undertaken to identify and interpret 
the heraldic decoration. Two basic heraldic 
schemes have been identified. 

The first of these was that of Sir Walter 
Mildmay, whose use of his paternal arms,  
together with those of his wife Mary 
Walsingham, sister of Sir Francis Walsingham, 
well known as Elizabeth I’s spymaster, survive 
in carving on the north gateway to the east  
court, and the fireplace of the Great Chamber.  
The sculpture on the Great Chamber fireplace 
is dated 1562, and the scheme of decoration 
may have beenn in preparation for the visit of 
Elizabeth I to Apethorpe in 1566. 

Mildmay’s decoration was overshadowed by 
the lavish use of heraldry by Francis Fane,
1st Earl of Westmorland (1520-1628), who 
acquired Apethorpe through marriage to Sir 
Walter’s granddaughter, Mary Mildmay in 
1599. Fane’s arms, together with those of 
Mary Mildmay appear over the fireplace in  
the Old Dining Room in the East Courtyard,  
Hall Range. Those of Francis Fane demonstrate 
his pride of lineage – the eight quarterings show 
the arms of Fane, Nevill of Abergavenny, 
Despencer, Beauchamp, Fitzalan of Arundel 
as well as the ancient arms of Clare, Warenne, 
and Nevill of Bulmer, all of which Fane 
would have claimed by right of his mother’s 
Nevill ancestry. 

Fane was responsible for the building and  
decoration of the Royal Apartment, used for  
the accommodation of King James I and VI.  

The principal glory of this apartment consists  
in the armorial plaster ceilings. The King’s 
Chamber itself features the Stuart Royal arms. 
The ceilings of the two rooms to the west 
of the King’s Chamber, the Withdrawing 
Chamber and the Great Chamber, feature 
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The last of the arms in Francis 
Fane’s genealogical sequence, 
showing the arms of Fane 
(azure, three gauntlets or) 
impaling those of Mildmay 
(argent, three lions azure)
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Above left: The arms of Mary 
Mildmay, wife of Francis Fane 
from the armorial panels over 
the fireplace in the Old Dining 
Room. The Mildmay arms of her 
father, Anthony Mildmay, son of 
Sir Walter, are quartered with 
those of her mother Grace 
Sherington

Middle: Arms of Sir Mildmay 
Fane, 2nd earl of Westmorland 
over the north gateway to the 
east courtyard 

Right: Armorial glass in the 
Great Hall showing the impaled 
arms of Fane and Wellesley-Pole,  
representing the marriage of John  
Fane, 11th earl of Westmorland 
(1784-1859) to Priscilla Anne 
Wellesley-Pole in 1811

an extraordinary genealogical sequence, 
showing eight generations of marriages 
between the wealthiest and most important 
families of later medieval England.  These 
marriages, culminating in Fane’s own, were 
cumulatively responsible for bringing him 
enormous wealth and vast estates. The 
sequence ‘faces’ westwards, to be legible to 
those approaching the King’s Chamber from 
this direction. Each generation is represented 
by the impaled shields of a husband and wife 
flanked by the crests of the two families. As 
is always the case the husbands’ arms are 
represented on the dexter side of the shield 
(that is the left side to the viewer). 

On entering Great Chamber, the visitor 
was presented with an impaled shield 
showing the arms of Fane impaling 
Mildmay, the marriage through which Fane 
acquired Apethorpe and the last generation 
represented. The viewer then proceeds back 
in time. The next shield represents Francis’ 
parents, Sir Thomas Fane of Badsell, Kent 
and Mary Nevill baroness le Despencer, sole 
heiress of Henry Nevill, lord Bergavenny 
(m. 1574). The third set of shields and 
crests, the final one in the Great Chamber, 
commemorates the marriage in 1555 of 
Mary Nevill’s parents, Henry Nevill, lord 
Bergavenny, and Frances, daughter of 
Thomas Manners, earl of Rutland.

The next five generations appear in the 
ceiling of the adjacent Withdrawing 
Chamber. They begin with the arms of 
George Nevill lord Bergavenny, and his third 
wife, Mary, daughter of Edward Stafford, 
duke of Buckingham (m. 1519). The father of 
George Nevill was another George (d. 1492), 
whose arms, impaling those of his first wife 

Margaret, daughter and heiress of Sir Hugh 
Fenne Treasurer of the Household to Henry VI  
are the fifth in the sequence. The earliest 
member of the Nevill family in the sequence 
was Edward, 11th and youngest son of 
Ralph Nevill, first Earl of Westmorland who 
married Elizabeth, daughter and heiress of 
Richard Beauchamp, lord Bergavenny. In the 
seventh alliance depicted the focus moves 
to the Beauchamp ancestry of Elizabeth, 
with the arms of her parents, Richard 
Beauchamp Lord Bergavenney and earl of 
Worcester, and Isabel, sister and sole heiress 
of Richard le Despencer, lord Burghersh 
(m. 1420). Finally, adjacent to the King’s 
Chamber itself are the earliest arms in the 
sequence, commemorating the marriage of 
Richard Beauchamp’s father, William, fourth 
son of Thomas, earl of Warwick to Joan, 
sister and co-heiress of Thomas Fitzalan, 
earl of Arundel. The heraldically literate 
visitor could not help but be impressed by 
this lineage, which was carefully selected to 
depict a direct line through a sequence of 
profitable marriages to heiresses! 

Further additions to the heraldic decoration 
of the house were made by Mildmay Fane,
2nd earl and John Fane 7th earl, the latter 
commemorating his marital alliance with the
Cavendish family. The last member of the 
family to be commemorated heraldically was
John Fane, 11th Earl of Westmorland.

Tony Wilmott

le
ft,

 m
id

dl
e,

 To
ny

 W
ilm

ot
t; 

rig
ht

, P
at

ric
ia

 P
ay

ne
, a

ll 
©

 E
ng

lis
h 

H
er

ita
ge



27

NOTES & NEWS
A round-up of activities and developments showing some 
of the scope and variety of projects that are ongoing in the 
Research Department. 

MISCELLANEOUS DEVELOPMENTS

HADLEIGH CASTLE, ESSEX A 2

Hadleigh Castle is an enclosure castle on  
the south Essex coast overlooking Canvey 
Island and the Thames Estuary. Originally 
built by Hubert de Burgh sometime between  
1215 and 1239, it was taken into royal hands  
and was redeveloped by Edward III in the  
1360s. It was sold in 1551 and soon after most 
of the internal buildings were systematically 
demolished. During January 2009 the 
Archaeological Survey and Investigation team 
(Cambridge), together with colleagues from 
the Properties Research team, undertook an  
earthwork survey of the castle to inform 
improved management and presentation of the  
site. In addition to the analytical field survey  
of the castle’s earthworks and its immediate  
environs, a broader landscape contextualization 
and new historical research were undertaken.

This work has led to a better definition of 
the extent of the earthworks surrounding 
castle and an improved understanding 

of their chronological and functional 
development.  This has suggested that the 
substantial role that Edward II played in the 
castle’s development was overshadowed by 
Edward III’s later redevelopments.  It is also 
argued that there are earthwork remains of 
probable gardens on the south side of the 
castle that may date from as early as the 13th 
century, perhaps from the castle’s original 
construction. The wider landscape survey 
has identified the probable site of the castle 
mill, probably a tide mill in the marshes to 
the south of the castle, and reinterpreted the 
currently accepted mill site as a fish pond.

The full Research Department report has been published 
and can be downloaded from: http://research.english-
heritage.org.uk/report/?14748. An article is to be published 
in the forthcoming edition of the English Heritage Historical 
Review. We would like to acknowledge the assistance of 
the Salvation Army for the use of their facilities.

Magnus Alexander and  
Susan Westlake
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Aerial photograph of a  
long barrow near Avebury

NEW LONG BARROW  
NEAR AVEBURY A 2

This aerial photograph of an unremarkable 
looking soil mark was taken in April 2009. 
The site is situated at the end of a prominent 
ridge 450m to the south east of the henge at 
Avebury and is aligned NW-SE. The dark  
curvilinear ditch could be the remains of a  
Cranborne Chase style long barrow, which are 
distinguished by side ditches that generally 

continue around one end of the mound. This  
one features a gap or causeway across the ditch  
at its enclosed end, something that is also known  
at other such sites, such as the Thickthorn 
Down long barrow. This long barrow so 
close to Avebury shows the potential for new 
discoveries in familiar landscapes.

Damian Grady
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The project area is outlined in 
pink and contours are shown 
in light green (at 5m intervals), 
with Tarrant Launceston 15 
near the centre.  The number 
of recorded archaeological sites 
has been more than doubled by 
the analytical aerial survey
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TARRANT LAUNCESTON 15: 
ANOTHER CAUSEWAYED 
ENCLOSURE?  A 2

Aerial photographs taken in 2006 as part of 
the English Heritage aerial reconnaissance 
programme prompted a re-evaluation of the 
oval enclosure known as Tarrant Launceston 
15 and its surrounding landscape.  The site 
had been listed as probably Iron Age or 
Roman in the RCHME’s inventory volume 
(1972) but the new aerial photographs show 
a number of breaks, or causeways, in the 
ditch that defines the monument, perhaps 
indicating that the site is actually a Neolithic 
causewayed enclosure and considerably older 
than had previously been thought.  

A survey of existing air photographs of the 
area around Tarrant Launceston 15 provides 
a landscape context for this enigmatic site.  
This analysis resulted in a significant amount 
of new information and illustrates the 
potential of examining aerial photographs in 
the archives. Tarrant Launceston 15 sits in  
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the rolling chalk downland of Cranborne 
Chase, an area that has long drawn 
archaeological attention, particularly for its 
prehistory, however the aerial survey has 
more than doubled the record of round 
barrows and known sections of Roman 
road within the relatively small project area.  
Previously unrecorded sites for relatively 
poorly studied periods were also surveyed.  
These include post medieval water meadows, 
sheep folds and dewponds, and First World 
War practice trenches.     

The landscape surrounding Tarrant Launceston 
15 is not the only part of Cranborne Chase to  
benefit from recent analysis of archived aerial  
photographs.  Martyn Barber’s work at Mount 
Pleasant (2004) highlighted their potential to  
show previously unrecognised features at well  
known sites. Clearly, there is still much to learn  
about the prehistoric, and later, archaeology of  
Cranborne Chase and a significant proportion 
of this information is unacknowledged in 
aerial photograph collections.  

Sharon Bishop

Tarrant Launceston 15 in 2006.  
A number of breaks or possible 
causeways are clearly visible

A ‘NEW’ ENCLOSURE AT 
MINCHINGTON, DORSET A 2

The enclosure featured here was first 
recorded from reconnaissance photographs 
taken by English Heritage’s Damian Grady 

in the summer of 2002. Parts of it had been 
photographed before – in 1973 by John 
Boyden and in 1982 by RCHME – but 
somehow it had escaped the attention of 
ground-based archaeologists, despite being 
(a) on Cranborne Chase and (b) rather 
large, with around a third of its perimeter 
still visible as earthworks. Measuring over 
350 metres across and enclosing around 
5.5 hectares of hilltop at Myncen Farm, 
Minchington, it overlooks a small brook 
which heads south across the Dorset 
Cursus and past the assorted Gussage banjo 
enclosures before joining the River Allen 
close to Knowlton.
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Aerial photograph of the 
Minchington enclosure
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In August 2009, the authors were among a 
small group of people camping at Myncen 
Farm whilst undertaking fieldwork at 
nearby Damerham. While we were there, 
the farmer and a contractor inadvertently 
sectioned the enclosure ditch while digging 
a new pond on the hilltop. Recognising the 
exposed archaeological feature as something 
significant, the farmer held up work – at his 
own expense – while the ditch section was 
cleaned up and recorded by Helen Wickstead, 
with the assistance of Martin Green.

The exposed ditch section was 3.95m wide 
and 1.91m deep and V-shaped in profile. 
No datable finds were present, and there 
were no finds at all in the primary fills. The 
morphology of the cropmark and earthwork 
remains, and the size and form of the ditch 
section, along with the setting, might suggest 
a date in the Late Bronze Age or Early Iron 
Age, although this is highly speculative at 
present. It is hoped to carry out further work 
next summer in order to try and clarify this, 
among other things. A more detailed account 
of the site will be featured in the next volume 
of the Dorset Archaeological & Natural 
History Society’s Proceedings.

Martyn Barber and Helen Wickstead

HADRIAN’S WALL WORK 
PUBLISHED A 3

Archaeology Projects Department and its 
predecessors have conducted archaeological 
excavations on Hadrian’s Wall since 1976.  
A new English Heritage book, just published, 
completes the  publication of these projects. 
Full reports on excavations at the forts of  
Bowness-on-Solway (Paul Austen, 1988), 
and Birdoswald (1996-2000), together 
with excavations on the linear elements of 
Hadrian’s Wall at Crosby-on-Eden (Julian 
Bennett, 1981-4), Appletree (1999), and 
Black Carts (1997), and on fourteen of 
the milecastles on the Wall (1999-2000) 
are presented. A full catalogue of English 
Heritage excavations on the Wall appear in 
an Appendix. Work on recording the fabric 
of the Wall in the 1980s and 1990s by Alan 
Whitworth led to an appreciation of the work 
of Charles Anderson, Ministry of Works 
charge-hand, in the presentation of the Wall 
as we see it today. Press reports of Alan’s 
work led to the important discovery of an 
archive of drawings of the wall in the 1880s 
by James Irwin Coates, the catalogue of 
which is published here for the first time. 

Tony Wilmott
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